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Monthly Bulletin of The Rochester Bureau of

MUNICIPAL RESEARCH

Founded By George Eastman in 1915

No. 145

ROCHESTER, NEW YORK

DECEMBER, 1949

ROCHESTER AND
ITS WATER WORKS

City Manager Cartwright’s statement of November 21st
to the effect that the city will construct a water plant on Lake
Ontario to supplement the present water supply marks the
beginning of a new chapter in the story of “Rochester and Its
Water Works.” It may not be amiss to review the chapters that
have gone before. Municipal Research, therefore is printing in
this issue the story of the early years—1834 to 1872. The story
will be brought down to date in future issues.

‘When Rochester became a city
in 1834 and for forty years there-
after its water supply was pre-
carious to say the least. Water
for domestic purposes was taken
from public or private wells
and from cisterns in which roof-
water was collected and stored.
Writing in 1872, the chief engi-
neer of the projected city water
works referred to the “objection-
able quality” of the water from
the wells and to the “foul and
stagnant” water from thecisterns.
Water for fire protection was
taken by the fire engines from
small underground reservoirs
scattered through the “lamp and
watch” area of the city. These
reservoirs were supplied in most
cases by pipe lines from the Erie
Canal. That they were far from
satisfactory may be inferred
from the following quotation
from the annual report of the
fire department committee to the
common council in 1871: “It has
been extremely fortunate that
we have been unusually free
from fires during the past year,
as the great scarcity of water
would have prevented any very
effectual resistance in many sec-
tions of the city and especially
so during the winter season.” In
spite of these conditions, every
proposal for the acquisition of
a water supply was warmly de-
bated and bitterly opposed right
down to January 23, 1876, when

Hemlock water first flowed into
Highland Reservoir. This same
tendency to debate and to oppose
has prevailed on each occasion
when extensions of the supply
have been under consideration.

First Water Company—1835

The first move to supply the
city with “pure and wholesome”
water came in 1835 when the
state legislature passed “An act
to incorporate the Rochester
Water Works Company.” This
company was capitalized at $10,
000, the small amount being
eloquent of the failure to grasp
the importance and the magni-
tude of the project. Five citizens
—a banker, two attorneys, an ex-
change broker and a merchant
miller—were named in the stat-
ute to receive subscriptions to
the eapital stock. No record of
any proceedings under this law
have been found and, in all prob-
ability, the charter expired un-
der the provision of the Revised
Statutes of the State that any
corporation not organizing and
commencing operations within
one year of its incorporation for-
feited its corporate powers.

Johnson Report—1838

The second step on the long
road to a public water supply
was taken in 1838. On January
16th of that year, the common
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council directed the mayor, El-
isha Johnson, to study the matter
and report his findings to the
council at an early date. Water
supply evidently was a hobby
with the mayor and his report
was filed with startling prompt-
ness on March 3rd, only seven
weeks after it had been re-
quested. The mayor suggested
the river as the source of supply,
his plan calling for clarifying
basins on each side of the river
from which the water would be
lifted to distributing reservoirs
to flow by gravity through cast
iron mains in the city streets.
The mayor estimated the cost
of the proposed works as $132,
642.85 and recommended that
the city borrow $150,000 and
build the project in four steps,
of which the clarifying basins
and the distributing reservoir on
the west side of the river, north
of Clarissa Street, with a main
“through Caledonia and Sophia
(streets) to Buffalo street” would
be the first. Water rates, Mr.
Johnson thought, would aver-
age “five dollars per family of
six,” making a total revenue of
$12,500 to meet an annual opera-
ting expense of $1,500 and the
various capital charges. The
Johnson report caused a minor
wave of interest throughout the
city, interest that soon evapo-
rated to be followed by fourteen
long, apathetic years.

Second Water Company—1852

The second Rochester Water
Works Company was incorpor-
ated in 1852. This company,
miserably directed and insuf-
ficiently financed, was destined
to dominate the water situation
in Rochester for twenty years.
During these two decades, per-
iods of masterly inactivity al-
ternated with periods of bustling
but ineffectual activity, while
the people of the city and their
elected representatives were torn
between exaspiration and hope.
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Although the official record in
the Proceedings of the Common
Council and the unofficial rec-
ord in the local newspapers are
voluminous, one always turns
from a reading of the sources
with a feeling of bewilderment—
whatever was the motivation of
the company over those twenty
important but futile years!

The act incorporating the com-
pany was passed by the state
legislature on April 16, 1852. It
named eleven local men to serve
as a board of directors pending
an election on “the first Wed-
nesday of May, 1853.” The cap-
ital stock of the company was
set at $200,000, but this might
be increased to $500,000 by the
company at any time and with-
out further authorization. The
usual “books of subscription”
for the capital stock were auth-
orized. Finally, in the eighth sec-
tion of the charter, the purpose
of the company was obliquely
stated as “supplying the said city
of Rochester with pure and
wholesome water.” Where the
supply was to come from was
not stated and subsequent events
seem to indicate that no one then
associated with the company had
any clear opinion on the subject.
The common council of the city
was empowered to subscribe “an
amount not exceeding one hun-
dred and fifty thousand dollars”
to the capital stock and was
given the right to acquire the
company at any time by the pur-
chase of all other outstanding
stock at a premium that varied
from twenty per cent downward
as the company became older.

Participation by the city as a
stockholder in the company was
not popular with the people and
consequently the law was
amended in 1853 to permit the
city to borrow $200,000 and to
advance that amount to the com-
pany as a loan. Apparently the
people were as loath to become
creditors of the company as they
had been to become part-owners,
and the “lending provision” was
repealed in 1856. In 1860 the
matter of municipal participa-
tion was revived by the passage
of a law giving the city council
the right to sell city-owned stock
of the Genesee Valley Railroad
Company and to invest the pro-

ceeds, to the extent of $200,000
in stock of the Rochester Water
Works Company. In case the
aldermen were unwilling to pro-
ceed under this plan—and they
definitely were unwilling — they
were further authorized to sub-
mit to the people by referendum
a proposition to borrow $200,000
on city bonds and to use the
funds so derived for the pur-
chase of water works stock. The
referendum was never sanc-
tioned by the council. In 1867
the company was permitted to
increase its capital stock to $800,
000 and the common council was
hopefully authorized to sub-
scribe for $150,000.

This last law was adopted by
the legislature on March 26,
1867. The reaction was sharp
and immediate. The people of
the city wanted no part in the
troubles of the Rochester Water
Works Company. On July 7th
Alderman Kelly, obeying the
mandate of his constituents, of-
fered the following resolution at
a meeting of the common
council:

“Whereas, It has appeared
during the recent exciting
debate upon the water works
question, that, while the citiz-
ens at large are in favor of
the present contract as it is
and wish the work speedily
performed, they are opposed
to have any law remain un-
repealed that gives to the Com-
mon Council any right or pow-
er to subscribe to stock in the
Water Works;

“Therefore resolved, That
our Representatives in Senate
and Assembly are hereby in-
structed to secure the repeal
of that portion of our charter
that gives the Council any
right to subscribe for stock in
the Water Works Company.”

The resolution was carried
and, at the legislative session in
1868, a law was passed termin-
ating all authority for city par-
ticipation in the financing of
the company.

Johnson Plan—1859

‘While the matter of city par-
ticipation was being decided, El-
isha Johnson, no longer a resi-

dent of the city, reentered the
picture in 1859 though the med-
ium of a long and rather in-
coherent letter to the mayor, S.
W. D. Moore, in which the whole
question was settled for all time
to nobody’s satisfaction. In his
letter the ex-mayor recanted on
his report of 1838 and advocated
the construction of a storage
basin in the valley of the Little
Black Creek west of the city. The
Johnson proposal was read to the
council on July 5, 1859 and was
courteously referred to a select
committee to be appointed by the
mayor. This, in reality, was the
end of the Little Black Creek
project, but the interest en-
gendered by its proposal led Dan-
iel Marsh, a civil engineer, to
write to the council, outlining
some work that he had already
done on a plan for supplying the
city with water and asking the
assistance of the city in its com-
pletion. The Marsh letter was
referred to the select committee
appointed to consider the John-
son proposals, that committee
being expanded from three to
six members in view of the pos-
sibility of action. The select com-
mittee, under the chairmanship
of Alderman George Shelton,
contented itself with requests for
more time until Alderman Lewis
Selye, storm center at many a
council meeting, demanded ac-
tion. This was on March 13,
1860. On March 20, 1860 the se-
lect committee reported that it
had received bids for a survey
of routes for a pipe line from
Hemlock Lake to the city and for
a report covering the whole
question of water supply. The
committee recommended that
the proposal made by Mr. Marsh
be accepted, although his bid of
five hundred dollars was the
highest of the three received.
The council concurred and Mr.
Marsh was employed.

Marsh Report—1860

The completion of the Marsh
Report was announced to the
council by the select committee
on October 2, 1860. This, the
first official report on Rochester’s
water problem by a qualified en-
gineer, is worthy of more than
passing attention. The report
listed eleven “sources from
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